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Information for Respondents 
 

Invitation to Comment 

The New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (NZAuASB)1 is seeking comments 

on the specific matters raised in this Invitation to Comment. We will consider all comments 

before finalising Conforming Amendments to Auditing and Assurance Standards: Implications 

of the Revised Professional and Ethical Standard 1 on the NZAuASB’s Standards.  

If you want to comment, please supplement your opinions with detailed comments, whether 

supportive or critical of the proposals, as both supportive and critical comments are essential 

to a balanced view.  

Comments are most useful if they indicate the specific paragraph to which they relate, 

contain a clear rationale and, where applicable, provide a suggestion for an alternative. Feel 

free to provide comments only for those questions or issues that are relevant to you.  

Comments should be submitted electronically using our ‘Open for comment’ page at 

https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/standards-in-development/open-for-

comment/nzauasb-ed-2019-3 

 

The closing date for submissions is 24 January 2020. 

 

Publication of Submissions, the Official Information Act and the 

Privacy Act 

We intend publishing all submissions on the XRB website (xrb.govt.nz), unless the 

submission may be defamatory. If you have any objection to publication of your submission, 

we will not publish it on the internet. However, it will remain subject to the Official 

Information Act 1982 and may, therefore, be released in part or full. The Privacy Act 1993 

also applies. 

If you have an objection to the release of any information contained in your submission, we 

would appreciate you identifying the parts of your submission be withheld, and the grounds 

under the Official Information Act 1982 for doing so (e.g. that it would be likely to unfairly 

prejudice the commercial position of the person providing the information). 

 

                                                 
1 The NZAuASB is a sub-Board of the External Reporting Board and is responsible for setting auditing and 
assurance standards.  

https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/standards-in-development/open-for-comment/nzauasb-ed-2019-3?stage=Stage
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/standards-in-development/open-for-comment/nzauasb-ed-2019-3?stage=Stage
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/standards-in-development/open-for-comment/nzauasb-ed-2019-3?stage=Stage
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/standards-in-development/open-for-comment/nzauasb-ed-2019-3?stage=Stage
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List of Abbreviations 

The following abbreviations are used in this Invitation to Comment.  

ED Exposure Draft 

IAASB International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 

IESBA International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 

ISAs International Standards on Auditing  

ISAs (NZ) International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

ITC Invitation to comment 

NZAuASB New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 

PES Professional and Ethical Standard 

XRB External Reporting Board 

 

 

 

Summary of Questions for Respondents 
 
1. Do you agree with the proposed amendments to the auditing and assurance standards to 

align with the revised Professional and Ethical Standard 1? 

2. Do you have any other comments on ED NZAuASB 2019-3 Conforming Amendments to 

Auditing and Assurance Standards: Implications of the Revised Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 on the NZAuASB’s Standards? (please be specific) 

3. Do you believe that the proposed effective date of approximately 90 days after approval 

of the final standard is appropriate? If not, please explain why not.   
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1. Introduction 

1.1  Purpose of this Invitation to Comment 

1. The purpose of this Invitation to Comment is to seek feedback on the proposed 

amendments to standards issued by the NZAuASB.  

1.2  Background 

2. In December 2018, the NZAuASB issued a revised code of ethics, Professional and 

Ethical Standard (PES) 1, International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 

(including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand), based on the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA), International Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). 

3. The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) has proposed 

amendments to its auditing, assurance and related services standards (“international 

standards”) to address inconsistences between the extant international standards and 

the revised IESBA Code.  

4. This Invitation to Comment and Exposure Draft proposes amendments to the auditing 

and assurance standards, including Professional and Ethical Standard 3 (Amended)2 

issued by the NZAuASB that are not otherwise captured by the amendments proposed 

by the IAASB. This includes amendments to New Zealand specific paragraphs within 

ISAs (NZ), ISAEs (NZ) and ISREs (NZ) and to domestic standards.   

5. The New Zealand exposure draft should be considered in conjunction with the IAASB’s 

Exposure Draft, Proposed Conforming Amendments to the IAASB’s International 

Standards. The New Zealand exposure draft does not mark up the changes to the 

international standards, as made by the IAASB. These are explained in the IAASB’s 

explanatory memorandum. Stakeholders are advised to read this Invitation to 

Comment and the attached exposure draft together with the IAASB explanatory 

memorandum and exposure draft to fully understand the impact of the changes.  

1.3  Reasons for Issuing this Exposure Draft 

6. This exposure draft considers the implications of the revised PES 1 on the NZAuASB’s 

auditing and assurance standards, including Professional and Ethical 

Standard 3 (Amended). The amendments affect numerous standards issued by the 

NZAuASB as identified in the Exposure Draft.  

1.4 Timeline and Next Steps 

7. Submissions on ED 2019-3 are due by 24 January 2020. Information on how to make 

submissions is provided on page 4 of this Invitation to Comment.  

                                                 
2 Professional and Ethical Standard 3 (Amended), Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial 
Statements, and Other Assurance Engagements 

https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/professional-and-ethical-standards/pes-1-revised/
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/professional-and-ethical-standards/pes-1-revised/
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/professional-and-ethical-standards/pes-1-revised/
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/professional-and-ethical-standards/pes-1-revised/
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/professional-and-ethical-standards/pes-1-revised/
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/assurance-standards/professional-and-ethical-standards/pes-1-revised/
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
https://www.iaasb.org/publications-resources/exposure-draft-proposed-conforming-amendments-iaasbs-international
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8. The NZAuASB will consider the submissions received immediately after the 

consultation period ends. Subject to the content of that feedback, the NZAuASB 

expects to issue the final Standard Conforming Amendments to Auditing and 

Assurance Standards: Implications of the revised Professional and Ethical Standard 1 

on the NZAuASB’s Standards in early 2020. 

9. Given the limited nature of the amendments proposed and because the conforming 

amendments do not create any new obligations, the NZAuASB is proposing that the 

conforming amendments become effective approximately 90 days after approval of 

the final standard. The NZAuASB is seeking comments on the effective date of the 

conforming amendments. 

  



 

 

 8 

 

2. Overview of Exposure Draft Conforming 

Amendments to Auditing and Assurance 

Standards: Implications of the Revised 

Professional and Ethical Standard 1 on the 

NZAuASB’s Standards 

2.1  Matters Addressed in this Exposure Draft 

10. The exposure draft considers the implications of the revised Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1, International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand), on standards issued by the 

NZAuASB. 

11. The purpose of making the revisions is solely to align the extant wording with the 

revised PES 1 and not to re-evaluate or discuss the merits of each reference, thus 

ensuring that the auditing and assurance standards can continue to be applied 

effectively together with the revised PES 1.  

12. The IAASB has proposed amendments to its auditing, assurance and related services 

standards to address inconsistences between the extant international standards and 

the revised International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 

International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards 

Board for Accountants (IESBA). 

Questions for Respondents 

1. Do you agree with the proposed amendments to the auditing and assurance 

standards to align with the revised Professional and Ethical Standard 1? 

2. Do you have any other comments on ED 2019-3, Conforming Amendments to 

Auditing and Assurance Standards: Implications of the Revised Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1 on the NZAuASB’s Standards (please be specific)?  

2.2  Effective Date 

13. Given the limited nature of the amendments proposed and because the conforming 

amendments do not create any new obligations, the NZAuASB is proposing that the 

conforming amendments become effective approximately 90 days after approval of 

the final standard.  

Questions for Respondents 

3. Do you believe that the proposed effective date of approximately 90 days after 

approval of the final standard is appropriate? If not, please explain why not.  
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A: INTRODUCTION 

 

This document sets out proposed amendments to the auditing and assurance standards, including 

professional and ethical standards arising from the issuance of Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1, International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

Amended paragraphs are shown with new text underlined and deleted text struck through. 

The footnote numbers within these amendments do not align with the ISAs (NZ) and other 

pronouncements that are amended, and reference should be made to those ISAs (NZ) and other 

pronouncements. 
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B: Proposed Amendments to NZ specific paragraphs  

B.1 Professional and Ethical Standard 3 (Amended) Quality Control for Firms that Perform 

Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance Engagements 

Paragraphs NZ12.9 and NZA14.1 are amended to reflect the new title of Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1. Footnote references to PES 1 are updated. A new footnote is added 

following the first reference to PES 1 to add its title.  

NZ12.9 Relevant ethical requirements – Ethical requirements to which the engagement team and 

engagement quality control reviewer are subject, which ordinarily comprise Professional 

and Ethical Standard 13 (Revised), and other applicable law or regulation.  

NZA14.1 Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) recognises that the familiarity threat is 

particularly relevant in the context of financial statement audits of public interest entities. 

For these audits, Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) requires the rotation of the 

key audit partner4 after a pre-defined period, normally no more than seven years, and 

provides related standards and guidance5. 

B.2 ISA (NZ) 210 Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements 

Paragraph NZ21.1 and related footnotes are amended to reflect the new title of Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1.  

NZ21.1 Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised),6 requires assurance practitioners to comply 

with Auditing Standards; therefore auditors shall not sign an audit report that does not 

conform to the requirements of this ISA (NZ). In the extremely rare situation described in 

paragraph 21, the auditor shall attach a separate report that conforms to the requirements of 

this ISA (NZ).  

B.3 ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised) Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements 

Paragraphs NZ28(c) and NZ50(e)(1) are amended to reflect the new title of Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1. The illustrative reports are also amended accordingly. In addition, in 

paragraph NZ28(c) the statement referring to Parts A and B of the IESBA Code is deleted.  

                                                 
3  Professional and Ethical Standard 1, International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

4  Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised), Definitions. 
5  Paragraph 290.151 of Professional and Ethical Standard 1, section 540, Long Association of Personnel (including Partner 

Rotation) with an Audit or Review Client   (Revised) 

6  Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised), “International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) (Compiled)”. 



 

 

 12 

 

Basis for Opinion 

28. The auditor’s report shall include a section, directly following the Opinion section, with the 

heading “Basis for Opinion”, that: (Ref: Para. A32) 

(a) States that the audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand); (Ref: Para. A33) 

(b) Refers to the section of the auditor’s report that describes the auditor’s responsibilities 

under the ISAs (NZ); 

(c) Includes a statement that the auditor is independent of the entity in accordance with the 

relevant ethical requirements relating to the audit, and has fulfilled the auditor’s other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The statement shall 

identify the jurisdiction of origin of the relevant ethical requirements or refer to the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (IESBA Code); and (Ref: Para. A34-A39) 

 NZ28(c) In New Zealand, the statement required by paragraph 28(c) shall refer to Professional 

and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued 

by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) is at least as restrictive as Parts A and B of the IESBA Code related 

to an audit of financial statements. 

(d) States whether the auditor believes that the audit evidence the auditor has obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor’s opinion.  

Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation 

50. If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to use a specific 

layout, or wording of the auditor’s report, the auditor’s report shall refer to International 

Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) only if the auditor’s report includes, at a minimum, 

each of the following elements: (Ref: Para. A70–A71) 

(a) A title.  

(b) An addressee, as required by the circumstances of the engagement. 

(c) An Opinion section containing an expression of opinion on the financial statements 

and a reference to the applicable financial reporting framework used to prepare the 

financial statements (including identifying the jurisdiction of origin of the financial 

reporting framework that is not International Financial Reporting Standards or 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards, see paragraph 26).  

NZ50(c)(1) The opinion paragraph shall identify the applicable financial reporting requirements 

issued by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board used to prepare the financial 

statements. 

(d) An identification of the entity’s financial statements that have been audited. 

(e) A statement that the auditor is independent of the entity in accordance with the relevant 

ethical requirements relating to the audit, and has fulfilled the auditor’s other ethical 
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responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The statement shall identify the 

jurisdiction of origin of the relevant ethical requirements or refer to the IESBA Code. 

NZ50(e)(1) In New Zealand, the independence statement shall refer to Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 

(including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New 

Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

(f) Where applicable, a section that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the reporting 

requirements in paragraph 22 of ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

(g) Where applicable, a Basis for Qualified (or Adverse) Opinion section that addresses, 

and is not inconsistent with, the reporting requirements in paragraph 23 of ISA (NZ) 

570 (Revised).  

(h) Where applicable, a section that includes the information required by ISA (NZ) 701, 

or additional information about the audit that is prescribed by law or regulation and 

that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the reporting requirements in that ISA 

(NZ).
7
 (Ref: Para. A72–A73) 

(i) Where applicable, a section that addresses the reporting requirements in paragraph 24 

of ISA (NZ) 720 (Revised)
8
. 

(j) [Amended by the NZAuASB]. 

NZ50(j)(1) A description of the responsibilities of those charged with governance for the 

preparation of the financial statements that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the 

requirements in paragraphs 33–36. 

(k) A reference to International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) and the law or 

regulation, and a description of the auditor’s responsibilities for an audit of the 

financial statements that addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the requirements in 

paragraphs 37–40. (Ref: Para. A54–A55)  

(l) [Amended by the NZAuASB]. 

NZ50(l)(1) For audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of FMC reporting 

entities considered to have a higher level of public accountability, the name of the 

engagement partner unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably 

expected to lead to a significant personal security threat.  

(m) The auditor’s signature.  

(n) The auditor’s address.  

(o) The date of the auditor’s report. 

  

                                                 
7  ISA (NZ) 701, paragraphs 11–16 

8  ISA (NZ) 720 (Revised), paragraph 24. 
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Illustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports on Financial Statements  Appendix 

… 

[NZ] Illustration 1 – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a FMC Reporting 

Entity Considered to have a Higher Level of Public Accountability Prepared in 

Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework (for example NZ IFRS) 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are 

assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a FMC reporting entity considered 

to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation framework. 

The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on 

the audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 

(including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). The auditor has also 

chosen to refer to the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 

Standards).  

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material 

uncertainty does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA 

(NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

… 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 

accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for 

Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by 

the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the International Ethics Standards Board 
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for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 

Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 2 – Auditor’s Report on Consolidated Financial Statements of a FMC 

Reporting Entity Considered to have a Higher Level of Public Accountability Prepared 

in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework (for example, NZ IFRS) 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation 

framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 

applies). 

• The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in 

accordance with NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on 

the audit evidence obtained. 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit.  

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material 

uncertainty does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 

(Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other 

reporting responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

… 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics 

for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued 

by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company or 

any of its subsidiaries. 

… 



 

 

 17 

 

 

[NZ] Illustration 3 – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Public Benefit 

Entity that is not a FMC Reporting Entity Considered to have a Higher Level of Public 

Accountability Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework (for 

example, Public Benefit Entity Standards) 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are 

assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a public benefit entity that is not a 

FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability using 

a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does 

not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

Public Benefit Entity Standards
9
 (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on 

the audit evidence obtained. 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit.  

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit 

matters in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law. 

• The auditor elects to refer to the description of the auditor’s responsibility included on the 

website of the XRB. 

 

                                                 
9  The use of Public Benefit Entity Standards is used for the purposes of illustration.  The appropriate financial reporting 

standards to be applied by an entity will be determined by the tier structure established in XRB A1 Application of the 

Accounting Standards Framework. The Auditor’s Report would identify one of the following: 

• New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. (This may also include compliance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards) 

• New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime  

• Public Benefit Entity Standards  

• Public Benefit Entity Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime 

• Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Public Sector) 

• Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-For-Profit). 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

… 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the [entity] in 

accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for 

Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by 

the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the [entity]. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 4 – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of an Entity Other than 

a FMC Reporting Entity Considered to have a Higher Level of Public Accountability 

Prepared in Accordance with a General Purpose Compliance Framework  

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are 

assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a FMC reporting 

entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability required by law or 

regulation. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with the 

Financial Reporting Framework (XYZ Law) of Jurisdiction X (that is, a financial reporting 

framework, encompassing law or regulation, designed to meet the common financial 

information needs of a wide range of users, but which is not a fair presentation framework).  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained.  

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters 

in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

… 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 

accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for 

Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by 

the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company. 

… 
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B.4 ISA (NZ) 705 Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report  

Illustrative reports [NZ] Illustration 1 through [NZ] Illustration 5 are amended to reflect the 

new title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1.  

 

Appendix 

(Ref: Para. A17-A18, A25) 

Illustrations of Auditor’s Reports with Modifications to the Opinion  

• [NZ] Illustration 1: An auditor’s report containing a qualified opinion due to a material 

misstatement of the financial statements.  

• [NZ] Illustration 2: An auditor’s report containing an adverse opinion due to a material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  

• [NZ] Illustration 3: An auditor’s report containing a qualified opinion due to the auditor’s 

inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding a foreign associate. 

• [NZ] Illustration 4: An auditor’s report containing a disclaimer of opinion due to the auditor’s 

inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the 

consolidated financial statements.  

• [NZ] Illustration 5: An auditor’s report containing a disclaimer of opinion due to the auditor’s 

inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about multiple elements of the 

financial statements. 
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[NZ] Illustration 1 – Qualified Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Financial 

Statements 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a FMC reporting entity considered to have 

a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not 

a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 60010 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with NZ 

IFRS (a general purpose framework).  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210.11  

• Inventories are misstated. The misstatement is deemed to be material but not pervasive to 

the financial statements (i.e., a qualified opinion is appropriate). 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises all of 

the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report 

and the matter giving rise to the qualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

also affects the other information. 

• In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements12  

Qualified Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

                                                 
10  ISA (NZ) 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors) 

11  ISA (NZ) 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements 

12  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a 

true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand 

equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Qualified Opinion  

The Company’s inventories are carried in the statement of financial position at xxx. Management has 

not stated the inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value but has stated them solely at cost, 

which constitutes a departure from NZ IFRS. The Company’s records indicate that, had management 

stated the inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value, an amount of xxx would have been 

required to write the inventories down to their net realisable value. Accordingly, cost of sales would 

have been increased by xxx, and income tax, net income and shareholders’ equity would have been 

reduced by xxx, xxx and xxx, respectively.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 2 – Adverse Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation framework. 

The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 applies). 

• The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance 

with NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework).  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The consolidated financial statements are materially misstated due to the non-consolidation 

of a subsidiary. The material misstatement is deemed to be pervasive to the consolidated 

financial statements. The effects of the misstatement on the consolidated financial statements 

have not been determined because it was not practicable to do so (i.e., an adverse opinion is 

appropriate). 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises all of 

the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• ISA (NZ) 701 applies; however, the auditor has determined that there are no key audit matters 

other than the matter described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion section.  

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report 

and the matter giving rise to the adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also 

affects the other information. 

• In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements13  

Adverse Opinion  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the 

                                                 
13  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the 

second sub-title “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.  
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Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse Opinion 

section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly (or do 

not give a true and fair view of) the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 

20X1, and (of) its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ 

IFRS).  

Basis for Adverse Opinion  

As explained in Note X, the Group has not consolidated subsidiary XYZ Company that the Group 

acquired during 20X1 because it has not yet been able to determine the fair values of certain of the 

subsidiary’s material assets and liabilities at the acquisition date. This investment is therefore accounted 

for on a cost basis. Under NZ IFRS, the Company should have consolidated this subsidiary and 

accounted for the acquisition based on provisional amounts. Had XYZ Company been consolidated, 

many elements in the accompanying consolidated financial statements would have been materially 

affected. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the failure to consolidate have not been 

determined. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics 

for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued 

by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company or 

any of its subsidiaries. 
… 
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[NZ] Illustration 3 – Qualified Opinion due to the Auditor’s Inability to Obtain Sufficient Audit 

Evidence Regarding a Foreign Associate  

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation 

framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 

applies). 

• The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in 

accordance with NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework).  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding an 

investment in a foreign associate. The possible effects of the inability to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be material but not pervasive to the consolidated 

financial statements (i.e., a qualified opinion is appropriate).  

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises all 

of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report 

and the matter giving rise to the qualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

also affects the other information. 

• In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other 

reporting responsibilities required under local law. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements14  

Qualified Opinion  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the 

Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

                                                 
14  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances 

when the second sub-title “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 

section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, (or give a true and fair view of) the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 20X1, 

and (of) its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Qualified Opinion  

The Group’s investment in XYZ Company, a foreign associate acquired during the year and 

accounted for by the equity method, is carried at xxx on the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at December 31, 20X1, and ABC’s share of XYZ’s net income of xxx is included in 

ABC’s income for the year then ended. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 

evidence about the carrying amount of ABC’s investment in XYZ as at December 31, 20X1 and 

ABC’s share of XYZ’s net income for the year because we were denied access to the financial 

information, management, and the auditors of XYZ. Consequently, we were unable to determine 

whether any adjustments to these amounts were necessary.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics 

for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued 

by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company or 

any of its subsidiaries. 
… 
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[NZ] Illustration 4 – Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor’s Inability to Obtain Sufficient 

Appropriate Audit Evidence about a Single Element of the Consolidated Financial Statements   

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of an entity other than a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair 

presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries (i.e., 

ISA (NZ) 600 applies). 

• The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in 

accordance with NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework).  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single 

element of the consolidated financial statements. That is, the auditor was also unable to 

obtain audit evidence about the financial information of a joint venture investment that 

represents over 90% of the entity’s net assets. The possible effects of this inability to obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be both material and pervasive to the 

consolidated financial statements (i.e., a disclaimer of opinion is appropriate).  

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises all of 

the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• A more limited description of the auditor’s responsibilities section is required.  

• In addition to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, the auditor has other 

reporting responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements15  

Disclaimer of Opinion  

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of ABC Company and its subsidiaries 

(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, 

and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

                                                 
15  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the 

second sub-title “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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We do not express an opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of 

our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for 

an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.  

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion 

The Group’s investment in its joint venture XYZ Company is carried at xxx on the Group’s consolidated 

statement of financial position, which represents over 90% of the Group’s net assets as at December 31, 

20X1. We were not allowed access to the management and the auditors of XYZ Company, including 

XYZ Company’s auditors’ audit documentation. As a result, we were unable to determine whether any 

adjustments were necessary in respect of the Group’s proportional share of XYZ Company’s assets that 

it controls jointly, its proportional share of XYZ Company’s liabilities for which it is jointly responsible, 

its proportional share of XYZ’s income and expenses for the year, and the elements making up the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement.  

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements16 

[Reporting in accordance with ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) and to issue an auditor’s report. 

However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, 

we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion 

on these consolidated financial statements.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) 

International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence 

Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company or 

any of its subsidiaries. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

[Reporting in accordance with ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 2 in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate]  

[Auditor Address]  

[Date]  
  

                                                 
16  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the entity 
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[NZ] Illustration 5 – Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor’s Inability to Obtain Sufficient 

Appropriate Audit Evidence about Multiple Elements of the Financial Statements 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a FMC reporting 

entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation 

framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600, does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with NZ 

IFRS (a general purpose framework).  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about multiple 

elements of the financial statements, that is, the auditor was also unable to obtain audit 

evidence about the entity’s inventories and accounts receivable. The possible effects of this 

inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be both material and 

pervasive to the financial statements.  

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises all 

of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• A more limited description of the auditor’s responsibilities section is required. 

• In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements17  

Disclaimer of Opinion  

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise 

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive 

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 

to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements of the Company. Because of 

the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, 

we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit 

opinion on these financial statements.  

                                                 
17  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 



 

 

 30 

 

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  

We were not appointed as auditors of the Company until after December 31, 20X1 and thus did not 

observe the counting of physical inventories at the beginning and end of the year. We were unable 

to satisfy ourselves by alternative means concerning the inventory quantities held at December 31, 

20X0 and 20X1, which are stated in the statements of financial position at xxx and xxx, respectively. 

In addition, the introduction of a new computerised accounts receivable system in September 20X1 

resulted in numerous errors in accounts receivable. As of the date of our report, management was 

still in the process of rectifying the system deficiencies and correcting the errors. We were unable 

to confirm or verify by alternative means accounts receivable included in the statement of financial 

position at a total amount of xxx as at December 31, 20X1. As a result of these matters, we were 

unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of 

recorded or unrecorded inventories and accounts receivable, and the elements making up the 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements18  

[Reporting in accordance with ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in ISA (NZ) 700 

(Revised).] 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) and to issue an auditor’s report. However, 

because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were 

not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these 

financial statements.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) 

International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence 

Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

[Reporting in accordance with ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised) – see Illustration 1 in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

[Signature in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate]  

[Auditor Address]  

[Date] 

  

                                                 
18  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the entity 
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B.5 ISA (NZ) 720 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other 

Information  

In Appendix 2, [NZ] Illustration 1 through [NZ] Illustration 7 are amended to reflect the new 

title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1. 

Appendix 2 

(Ref: Para. 21‒22, A53) 

Illustrations of Auditor’s Reports Relating to Other Information 

• [NZ] Illustration 1: An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity considered 

to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an unmodified opinion when the 

auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and has 

not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• [NZ] Illustration 2: An auditor’s report of a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level 

of public accountability containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained part of 

the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report, has not identified a material 

misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other information after the date 

of the auditor’s report. 

• [NZ] Illustration 3: An auditor’s report of an entity other than a FMC reporting entity considered 

to have a higher level of public accountability containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor 

has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report, has not 

identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other 

information after the date of the auditor’s report. 

• [NZ] Illustration 4: An auditor’s report of a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level 

of public accountability containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained no other 

information prior to the date of the auditor’s report but expects to obtain other information after 

the date of the auditor’s report. 

• [NZ] Illustration 5: An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity considered 

to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an unmodified opinion when the 

auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and has 

concluded that a material misstatement of the other information exists. 

• [NZ] Illustration 6: An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity considered 

to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing a qualified opinion when the 

auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and 

there is a limitation of scope with respect to a material item in the consolidated financial 

statements which also affects the other information. 

• [NZ] Illustration 7: An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity considered 

to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an adverse opinion when the 

auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and the 

adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also affects the other information. 
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[NZ] Illustration 1 – An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an unmodified 

opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the 

auditor's report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, using a fair presentation 

framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600
19

 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).
20

  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701.
21

 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report 

and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements22  

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

                                                 
19  ISA (NZ) 600, Special Considerations–Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors) 

20  ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised), Going Concern  

21  ISA (NZ) 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report. The Key Audit Matters section is 

required for FMC reporting entities considered to have a higher level of public accountability only. 

22  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.  
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In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a 

true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand 

equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 2 – An auditor’s report of a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher 

level of public accountability containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained 

part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report, has not identified a 

material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other information after the 

date of the auditor’s report. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a FMC reporting entity considered to have 

a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not 

a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to 

obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report. 

• In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements23   

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a 

true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand 

                                                 
23  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.  
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equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 
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[NZ] Illustration 3 – An auditor’s report of an entity other than a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability containing an unmodified opinion 

when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain 

other information after the date of the auditor’s report. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a FMC reporting 

entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation 

framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters 

in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report, 

has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other 

information after the date of the auditor’s report. 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under law or regulation. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a 

true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand 

equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 
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(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 4 – An auditor’s report of a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher 

level of public accountability containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained 

no other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report but expects to obtain other 

information after the date of the auditor’s report.  

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a FMC reporting entity considered to have 

a higher level of public accountability using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not 

a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained no other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report but 

expects to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.  

• In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 

responsibilities required under local law. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements24  

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a 

true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand 

equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

                                                 
24  The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.  
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Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 
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[NZ] Illustration 5 – An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an unmodified 

opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the 

auditor's report and has concluded that a material misstatement of the other information exists. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, using a fair presentation 

framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report 

and has concluded that a material misstatement of the other information exists 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under law or regulation. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or give a 

true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand 

equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs 

(NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 
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Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 6 – An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an qualified 

opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the 

auditor's report and there is a limitation of scope with respect to a material item in the 

consolidated financial statements which also affects the other information. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of any entity, whether a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, using a 

fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 applies). 

• The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in 

accordance with NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding an 

investment in a foreign associate. The possible effects of the inability to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence are deemed to be material but not pervasive to the consolidated 

financial statements (i.e., a qualified opinion is appropriate). 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report 

and the matter giving rise to the qualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

also affects the other information. 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under law or regulation. 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the 

Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 

20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified 

Opinion section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, (or give a true and fair view of) the financial position of the Group as at 
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December 31, 20X1, and (of) its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand equivalents to International 

Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

The Group’s investment in XYZ Company, a foreign associate acquired during the year and 

accounted for by the equity method, is carried at xxx on the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at December 31, 20X1, and ABC’s share of XYZ’s net income of xxx is included in 

ABC’s income for the year then ended. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 

evidence about the carrying amount of ABC’s investment in XYZ as at December 31, 20X1 and 

ABC’s share of XYZ’s net income for the year because we were denied access to the financial 

information, management, and the auditors of XYZ. Consequently, we were unable to determine 

whether any adjustments to these amounts were necessary. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We 

are independent of the Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) 

International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence 

Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our qualified opinion. 

 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company or 

any of its subsidiaries. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 7 – An auditor’s report of any entity, whether a FMC reporting entity 

considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, containing an adverse opinion 

when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's 

report and the adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also affects the other 

information. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of any entity, whether a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability or not, using a 

fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit (i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 applies). 

• The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance 

with NZ IFRS (a general purpose framework). 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The consolidated financial statements are materially misstated due to the non-consolidation of 

a subsidiary. The material misstatement is deemed to be pervasive to the consolidated financial 

statements. The effects of the misstatement on the consolidated financial statements have not 

been determined because it was not practicable to do so (i.e., an adverse opinion is appropriate). 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report 

and the matter giving rise to the adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also 

affects the other information. 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under law or regulation. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  

Adverse Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ABC Company and its subsidiaries (the 

Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 

20X1, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse 

Opinion section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present 

fairly (or do not give a true and fair view of) the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
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December 31, 20X1, and (of) its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with New Zealand equivalents to International 

Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 

 

Basis for Adverse Opinion 

As explained in Note X, the Group has not consolidated subsidiary XYZ Company that the Group 

acquired during 20X1 because it has not yet been able to determine the fair values of certain of the 

subsidiary’s material assets and liabilities at the acquisition date. This investment is therefore 

accounted for on a cost basis. Under NZ IFRS, the Group should have consolidated this subsidiary 

and accounted for the acquisition based on provisional amounts. Had XYZ Company been 

consolidated, many elements in the accompanying consolidated financial statements would have 

been materially affected. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the failure to 

consolidate have not been determined.  

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We 

are independent of the Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 International 

Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New 

Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in New 

Zealand[jurisdiction], and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion. 

 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company or 

any of its subsidiaries. 

… 
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B.6 ISA (NZ) 800 Special Considerations – Audits of Financial Statements 

Prepared Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks  

In Appendix 1, [NZ] Illustration 1 through [NZ] Illustration 3 are amended to reflect the new 

title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1.  

Appendix 1 
(Ref: Para. A14) 

Illustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports on Special Purpose Financial 

Statements 

• [NZ] Illustration 1: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity 

other than a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability 

prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of a contract (for purposes of 

this illustration, a compliance framework). 

• [NZ] Illustration 2: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity 

other than a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability 

prepared in accordance with the tax basis of accounting (for purposes of this illustration, a 

compliance framework). 

• [NZ] Illustration 3: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared in 

accordance with the financial reporting provisions established by a regulator (for purposes of 

this illustration, a fair presentation framework). 
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[NZ] Illustration 1: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity 

other than a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability 

prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of a contract (for purposes of this 

illustration, a compliance framework). 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• The financial statements have been prepared by management of the entity in accordance 

with the financial reporting provisions of a contract (that is, a special purpose framework). 

Management does not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks. 

• The applicable financial reporting framework is a compliance framework. 

• An auditor’s report on the complete set of general purpose financial statements was not 

issued. 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise of Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board.  

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Distribution and use of the auditor’s report are restricted. 

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit 

matters in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701.  

• The auditor has determined that there is no other information (i.e., the requirements of ISA 

(NZ) 720 (Revised) do not apply). 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law or regulation. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

[Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

balance sheet as at December 31, 20X1, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity 

and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Company for the year ended 

December 31, 20X1 are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial 

reporting provisions of Section Z of the contract dated January 1, 20X1 between the Company and 

DEF Company (“the contract”). [Opinion section positioned first as required in ISA (NZ) 700 

(Revised)] 
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Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. [The first and last sentences 

in this section used to be in the Auditor’s Responsibility section. Also, the Basis for Opinion section is 

positioned immediately after the Opinion section as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 2: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity 

other than a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability 

prepared in accordance with the tax basis of accounting in New Zealand (for purposes of this 

illustration, a compliance framework). 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements that have been prepared by management of 

a partnership in accordance with the tax basis of accounting in New Zealand (that is, a 

special purpose framework) to assist the partners in preparing their individual income tax 

returns. Management does not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks.  

• The applicable financial reporting framework is a compliance framework. 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised).  

• Distribution of the auditor’s report is restricted. 

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit 

matters in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701.  

• The auditor has determined that there is no other information (i.e., the requirements of ISA 

(NZ) 720 (Revised) do not apply).  

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law or regulation. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

[Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Partnership (the Partnership), which comprise 

the balance sheet as at December 31, 20X1 and the income statement for the year then ended, and 

notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Partnership for the year ended 

December 31, 20X1 are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with [describe the 

applicable income tax law] of New Zealand. [Opinion section positioned first as required in 

ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised)] 
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Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Partnership in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. [The first and last sentences 

in this section used to be in the Auditor’s Responsibility section. Also, the Basis for Opinion section is 

positioned immediately after the Opinion section as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Partnership. 

… 

 



 

 

 51 

 

[NZ] Illustration 3: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared in 

accordance with the financial reporting provisions established by a regulator (for purposes of 

this illustration, a fair presentation framework).  

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a FMC reporting entity considered to have 

a higher level of public accountability that have been prepared by management of the entity 

in accordance with the financial reporting provisions established by a regulator (that is, a 

special purpose framework) to meet the requirements of that regulator. Management does 

not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks.  

• The applicable financial reporting framework is a fair presentation framework. 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand). 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 

to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised). The disclosure 

of the material uncertainty in the financial statements is adequate. 

• Distribution or use of the auditor’s report is not restricted. 

• The auditor is required by the regulator to communicate key audit matters in accordance 

with ISA (NZ) 701.  

• The auditor has determined that there is no other information (i.e., the requirements of 

ISA (NZ) 720 (Revised) do not apply).  

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law or regulation. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company (the Company), which comprise the 

balance sheet as at December 31, 20X1, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity 

and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, (or 

give a true and fair view of) the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1, and 

(of) its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 

financial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regulation Z. [Opinion section positioned first as 

required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised)] 
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Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. [The first and last sentences 

in this section used to be in the Auditor’s Responsibility section. Also, the Basis for Opinion section is 

positioned immediately after the Opinion section as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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B.7 ISA (NZ) 805 Special Considerations – Audits of Single Financial 

Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial 
Statement  

In Appendix 2, [NZ] Illustration 1 through [NZ] Illustration 3 are amended to reflect the new 

title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1.  

Appendix 2 

(Ref: Para. A16) 

Illustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports on a Single Financial Statement 

and on a Specific Element of a Financial Statement 

• [NZ] Illustration 1: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than 

a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared 

in accordance with a general purpose framework (for purposes of this illustration, a fair 

presentation framework). 

• [NZ] Illustration 2: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than 

a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared 

in accordance with a special purpose framework (for purposes of this illustration, a fair 

presentation framework). 

• [NZ] Illustration 3: An auditor’s report on a specific element of a financial statement of a 

FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared in 

accordance with a special purpose framework (for purposes of this illustration, a compliance 

framework). 
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[NZ] Illustration 1: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than a 

FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared in 

accordance with a general purpose framework (for purposes of this illustration, a fair presentation 

framework) 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a balance sheet (that is, a single financial statement) of an entity other than a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability.  

• The balance sheet has been prepared by management of the entity in accordance with the 

requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework issued by the New Zealand 

Accounting Standards Board relevant to preparing a balance sheet.  

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The applicable financial reporting framework is a fair presentation framework designed to 

meet the common financial information needs of a wide range of users. 

• The auditor has determined that it is appropriate to use the phrase “presents fairly, in all 

material respects,” in the auditor’s opinion. 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 

to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised). The disclosure 

of the material uncertainty in the single financial statement is adequate.  

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit 

matters in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701 in the context of the audit of the balance sheet.  

• The auditor has determined that there is no other information (i.e., the requirements of ISA 

(NZ) 720 (Revised) do not apply).  

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law or regulation. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
[Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinion 

We have audited the balance sheet of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 31, 20X1 

and notes to the financial statement, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(together “the financial statement”).  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Company as at December 31, 20X1 in accordance with those 

requirements of the [applicable financial reporting framework issued by the New Zealand 

Accounting Standards Board] relevant to preparing such a financial statement. [Opinion section 

positioned first as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised)] 

Basis for Opinion  
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We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statement section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. [The first and last 

sentences in this section used to be in the Auditor’s Responsibility section. Also, the Basis for 

Opinion section is positioned immediately after the Opinion section as required in ISA (NZ) 700 

(Revised).] 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 2: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than a 

FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared in 

accordance with a special purpose framework. 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of a statement of cash receipts and disbursements (that is, a single financial statement) 

of an entity other than a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public 

accountability. 

• An auditor’s report on the complete set of financial statements was not issued. 

• The financial statement has been prepared by management of the entity in accordance with 

the cash receipts and disbursements basis of accounting to respond to a request for cash 

flow information received from a creditor. Management has a choice of financial reporting 

frameworks.  

• The applicable financial reporting framework is a fair presentation framework designed to 

meet the financial information needs of specific users.25 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• The auditor has determined that it is appropriate to use the phrase “presents fairly, in all 

material respects,” in the auditor’s opinion. 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Distribution or use of the auditor’s report is not restricted.  

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised). 

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit 

matters in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701 in the context of the audit of the statement of cash 

receipts and disbursements.  

• The auditor has determined that there is no other information (i.e., the requirements of ISA 

(NZ) 720 (Revised) do not apply).  

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law or regulation. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
[Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinion 

We have audited the statement of cash receipts and disbursements of ABC Company (the 

Company) for the year ended December 31, 20X1 and notes to the statement of cash receipts and 

                                                 
25  ISA (NZ) 800 (Revised) contains requirements and guidance on the form and content of financial statements prepared in 

accordance with a special purpose framework. 
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disbursements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (together “the financial 

statement”).  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the 

cash receipts and disbursements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 20X1 in 

accordance with the cash receipts and disbursements basis of accounting described in Note X. 

[Opinion section positioned first as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised)] 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statement section of our report. We are independent of 

the Company in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 

issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. [The first and last sentences 

in this section used to be in the Auditor’s Responsibility section. Also, the Basis for Opinion section is 

positioned immediately after the Opinion section as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, ABC Company. 

… 
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[NZ] Illustration 3: An auditor’s report on a specific element of a financial statement of a FMC 

reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public accountability prepared in accordance 

with a special purpose framework.  

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

• Audit of an accounts receivable schedule (that is, element, account or item of a financial 

statement). 

• The financial information has been prepared by management of the entity in accordance 

with the financial reporting provisions established by a regulator to meet the requirements 

of that regulator. Management does not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks.  

• The applicable financial reporting framework is a compliance framework designed to meet 

the financial information needs of specific users.26 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the financial statements in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the 

audit evidence obtained. 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Distribution of the auditor’s report is restricted. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 

does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 (Revised). 

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided to communicate key audit matters 

in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701 in the context of the audit of the accounts receivable 

schedule.  

• The auditor has determined that there is no other information (i.e., the requirements of ISA 

(NZ) 720 (Revised) do not apply).  

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law or regulation. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

[To the Shareholders of ABC Company or Other Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinion 

We have audited the accounts receivable schedule of ABC Company (the Company) as at December 

31, 20X1 (“the schedule”).  

In our opinion, the financial information in the schedule of the Company as at December 31, 20X1 

is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with [describe the financial reporting provisions 

established by the regulator]. [Opinion section positioned first as required ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised)] 

Basis for Opinion  

                                                 
26  ISA (NZ) 800 (Revised) contains requirements and guidance on the form and content of financial statements prepared in 

accordance with a special purpose framework. 
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We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 

(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Schedule section of our report. We are independent of the Company 

in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for 

Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by 

the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. [The first and last sentences in 

this section used to be in the Auditor’s Responsibility section. Also, the Basis for Opinion section is 

positioned immediately after opinion section as required in ISA (NZ) 700 (Revised).] 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company. 

… 
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C: Proposed Amendments to domestic standards  
C.1: External Reporting Board Standard Au1 Application of Auditing and 

Assurance Standards 

Appendix 1 is amended to reflect the new title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1.  

Appendix 1 

Professional and Ethical Standards  

This appendix is an integral part of the Standard. 

This appendix lists the Professional and Ethical Standards to be applied in preparing for and 

conducting all assurance engagements. 

PES 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 

(including International Independence Standards) (New 

Zealand) 

PES 3 (Amended) Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and 

Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance 

Engagements 

C.2 New Zealand Auditing Standard 1 The Audit of Service Performance 

Information  

A footnote is added to paragraph A18(a) to add the title of Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1. The illustrative auditor’s reports in Appendix 6 and Appendix 7 are amended to 

reflect the new title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1.  

A18 The service performance information may include information upon which another 

practitioner may have expressed an opinion. The auditor may decide to use the evidence on 

which that other practitioner’s opinion is based to provide evidence regarding the service 

performance information included in the general purpose financial report. The work of 

another practitioner may be used in relation to service performance information that falls 

outside the boundary of the reporting entity. Such practitioners are not part of the 

engagement team. Relevant considerations when the engagement team plans to use the work 

of another auditor may include: 

(a) Whether the auditor understands and complies with the requirements of Professional 

and Ethical Standard 1
27. 

(b) The other practitioner’s professional competence. 

(c) The extent of the engagement teams’ involvement in the work of the other practitioner. 

                                                 
27  Professional and Ethical Standard 1, International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) 
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Appendix 6 

(Ref: Para. A66) 

Illustrative Auditor’s Report Including Service Performance Information 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are 

assumed: 

• Audit of a general purpose financial report/performance report of a public benefit 

entity that is not a FMC reporting entity considered to have a higher level of public 

accountability using a fair presentation framework28. The audit is not a group audit 

(i.e., ISA (NZ) 600 does not apply). 

• The general purpose financial report/performance report is prepared by management 

of the entity in accordance with a general purpose framework. 

• The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of the responsibilities of those 

charged with governance for the general purpose financial report/performance report 

in ISA (NZ) 210. 

• The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on 

the audit evidence obtained. 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance 

Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) comprises 

all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit. 

• Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material 

uncertainty does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with ISA (NZ) 570 

(Revised). 

• The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit 

matters in accordance with ISA (NZ) 701. 

• The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s 

report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information. 

• The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To Appropriate Addressee 

Opinion  

We have audited the [general purpose financial report/performance report] of ABC [entity], which 

comprise the financial statements on pages x to xx, the [service performance information/statement 

of service performance] on pages x to xx [and the entity information on page x].  The complete set 

of financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, the 

[statement of financial performance/statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 

changes in net assets/equity], statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

                                                 
28  The general purpose financial report may be referred to as a performance report and include entity information, according to 

the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework. 
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statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion the accompanying [general purpose financial report/performance report] presents 

fairly, in all material respects, (or gives a true and fair view of): 

• [the entity information as at December 31, 20X1]; 

• the financial position of the [entity] as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its financial performance, 

and its cash flows for the year then ended; and  

• the service performance for the year ended December 31, 20X1 in accordance with the entity’s 

service performance criteria 

in accordance with [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – 

Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board.  

[For a long-form report, include a separate section, under an appropriate heading, for example: 

• Underlying facts and information about the entity’s process to select what service performance to 

report on (e.g., the maturity of the entity’s process compared to others in the industry). 

• The source of the service performance criteria, and whether they are externally established. (e.g., 

established in section xxx of applicable legislation or externally established performance 

frameworks). 

• Any significant interpretations made in selecting or applying the entity’s service performance 

criteria in the circumstances. 

• Whether there have been any changes in the service performance criteria (e.g., changes in the 

performance measures used). 

• Findings or recommendations for improvements to the service performance information.  

• Any other matters the auditor considers necessary to assist intended users in making decisions 

based on the service performance information.] 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit of the [financial statements] in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)) and the audit of the service performance information in 

accordance with the ISAs and New Zealand Auditing Standard (NZ AS) 1 The Audit of Service 

Performance Information (NZ). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the [General Purpose Financial Report/Performance Report] 

section of our report. We are independent of the [entity] in accordance with Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 

Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the [entity]. 
… 
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Appendix 7 

(Ref: Para. A76) 

Illustrations of Auditor’s Reports with Modifications to the Opinion with 
Respect to the Service Performance Information 

• Illustration 1: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion on the financial 

statements and a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement of the service 

performance information. 

• Illustration 2: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion on the financial 

statements and an adverse opinion due to a material misstatement of the service 

performance information. 

• Illustration 3: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion on the financial 

statements and a qualified opinion due to the auditor’s inability to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the service performance information. 

• Illustration 4: An auditor’s report containing a qualified opinion on both the financial 

statements and the service performance information due to the auditor’s inability to obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the financial statements. 
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Illustration 1: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion on the financial statements 

and a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement of the service performance information 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To [Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinions 

We have audited the [general purpose financial report/performance report] of ABC [entity], which 

comprise the financial statements on pages x to xx, the [service performance information/statement 

of service performance] on pages x to xx [and the entity information on page x].  The complete set 

of financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, the 

[statement of financial performance/statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 

changes in net assets/equity], statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

Opinion on the [Entity Information and] Financial Statements 

In our opinion, the accompanying [general purpose financial report/performance report] presents 

fairly, in all material respects, (or gives a true and fair view of) the [entity information and the] financial 

position of the [entity] as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its, financial performance and its cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity 

Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting 

Standards Board. 

Qualified Opinion on the Service Performance Information 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion on the 

Service Performance Information section of our report the accompanying [general purpose financial 

report/performance report] presents fairly, in all material respects (or gives a true and fair view of) the 

service performance of the [entity] for the year ended December 31, 20X1 in accordance with the 

entity’s service performance criteria and with [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity 

Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting 

Standards Board. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Service Performance Information 

[As reported in the service performance information on page xx, the entity has identified its service 

performance as [describe improvements reported or description of the difference that the entity has 

made] and measured this performance by [list performance measures and/or descriptions reported] to 

report its service performance.  The entity has not been able to provide evidence of its role in those 

particular improvements and therefore should not have reported this improvement.] 

We conducted our audit of the [financial statements] in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)) and the audit of the service performance information in 

accordance with the ISAs (NZ) and New Zealand Auditing Standard 1 The Audit of Service 

Performance Information. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the [General Purpose Financial Report/Performance Report] 

section of our report. We are independent of the [entity] in accordance with Professional and Ethical 
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Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 

Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the [entity]. 
… 
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Illustration 2: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion on the financial statements 

and an adverse opinion due to a material misstatement of the service performance information 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To [Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinions 

We have audited the [general purpose financial report/performance report] of ABC [entity], which 

comprise the financial statements on pages x to xx, the [service performance information/statement 

of service performance] on pages x to xx [and the entity information on page x].  The complete set 

of financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, the 

[statement of financial performance/statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 

changes in net assets/equity], statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

Opinion on the [Entity Information and] Financial Statements 

In our opinion, the accompanying [general purpose financial report/performance report] presents 

fairly, in all material respects, (or gives a true and fair view of) the [entity information and the] financial 

position of the [entity] as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its financial performance and its cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with [Public Benefit Entity Standards Public Benefit Entity 

Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting 

Standards Board. 

Adverse Opinion on the Service Performance Information 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse Opinion on 

the Service Performance Information section of our report the accompanying [general purpose 

financial report/ performance report] does not present fairly (or does not give a true and fair view of) 

the service performance of the [entity] [on pages x to xx] for the year ended December 31, 20X1 in 

accordance with the entity’s service performance criteria and with [Public Benefit Entity 

Standards/Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the 

New Zealand Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for Adverse Opinion on the Service Performance Information 

[As reported in the service performance information on pages …, the entity has identified its service 

performance to include [list appropriate goods and services] and measured and evaluated this 

performance with reference to [describe performance measures and/or descriptions reported] to report 

its service performance. We do not consider that these performance measures will enable a meaningful 

assessment of the service performance of the entity for the year ended December 31, 20X1 to be made.  

Had the entity identified more meaningful performance measures, the service performance information 

would have been materially affected, reporting performance measures including xxx and linking to its 

responsibility for yyyy.] 

We conducted our audit of the [financial statements] in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)) and the audit of the service performance information in 

accordance with the ISAs (NZ) and New Zealand Auditing Standard 1 The Audit of Service 

Performance Information. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the [General Purpose Financial Report/Performance Report] 

section of our report. We are independent of the [entity] in accordance with Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 

Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the [entity]. 
… 
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Illustration 3: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion on the financial statements 

and a qualified opinion due to the auditor’s inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 

evidence about a single element of the service performance information 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To [Appropriate Addressee] 

Opinions 

We have audited the [general purpose financial report/performance report] of ABC [entity], which 

comprise the financial statements on pages x to xx, the [service performance information/statement 

of service performance] on pages x to xx [and the entity information on page x].  The complete set 

of financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, the 

[statement of financial performance/statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 

changes in net assets/equity], statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

Opinion on the [Entity Information and] Financial Statements 

In our opinion, the accompanying [general purpose financial report/performance report] presents 

fairly, in all material respects, (or gives a true and fair view of) the [entity information and the] financial 

position of the [entity] as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its financial performance and its cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity 

Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting 

Standards Board. 

Qualified Opinion on the Service Performance Information 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion on the 

Service Performance Information section of our report the accompanying [general purpose financial 

report/performance report] presents fairly, in all material respects (or gives a true and fair view of) the 

service performance of the [entity] for the year ended December 31, 20X1 in accordance with the 

entity’s service performance criteria and with [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity 

Simple Format Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting 

Standards Board. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Service Performance Information 

[Some significant performance measures of the entity, rely on information from third parties, such as 

(give examples).  The entity’s control over much of this information is limited, and there are no practical 

audit procedures to determine the effect of this limited control.  For example, [describe performance 

measure and explain where information comes from that we are unable to independently test.]] 

We conducted our audit of the [financial statements] in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)) and the audit of the service performance information in 

accordance with the ISAs (NZ) and New Zealand Auditing Standard 1 The Audit of Service 

Performance Information. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the [General Purpose Financial Report/Performance Report] 

section of our report. We are independent of the [entity] in accordance with Professional and Ethical 
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Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 

Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the [entity]. 
… 
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Illustration 4: Qualified opinion on both the financial statements and the service performance 

information due to the auditor’s inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a 

single element of the financial statements 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To [Appropriate Addressee] 

Qualified Opinion on the [General Purpose Financial Report/Performance Report] 

We have audited the [general purpose financial report/performance report] of ABC [entity], which 

comprise the financial statements on pages x to xx, the [service performance information/statement 

of service performance] on pages x to xx [and the entity information on page x].  The complete set 

of financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X1, the 

[statement of financial performance/statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 

changes in net assets/equity], statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of our report the accompanying [general purpose financial report/performance report] presents fairly, 

in all material respects (or gives a true and fair view of): 

• [the entity information as at December 31, 20X1]; 

• the financial position of the [entity] as at December 31, 20X1, and (of) its financial performance, 

and its cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the service performance for the year ended December 31, 20X1 in accordance with the entity’s 

service performance criteria 

in accordance with [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting – 

Accrual (Not-for-profit)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board.  

Basis for Qualified Opinion  

[As outlined on page xx of the [general purpose financial report/ performance report], [entity] has not 

applied the requirements of the [Public Benefit Entity Standards/Public Benefit Entity Simple Format 

Reporting – Accrual (Not-for-profit)] to its grant expenditure.  We have been unable to obtain sufficient 

audit evidence to quantify the effects of this limitation.  As a result of this matter, we were unable to 

quantify the adjustments that are necessary in respect of grant expenditure in the [statement of 

comprehensive revenue and expenses]; assets, liabilities and equity in the statement of financial position, 

[total comprehensive revenue and expense] and opening and closing equity in the [statement of changes 

in equity] and grants expense reported in the [service performance information/statement of service 

performance].] 

We conducted our audit of the [financial statements] in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)) and the audit of the service performance information in 

accordance with the ISAs (NZ) and New Zealand Auditing Standard 1 The Audit of Service 

Performance Information. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the [General Purpose Financial Report/Performance Report] 

section of our report. We are independent of the [entity] in accordance with Professional and Ethical 
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Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 

Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, the [entity]. 
… 

C.3 SAE 3100 Assurance Engagements on Compliance 

Paragraphs 9, 19, 46, A19 and A65 are amended to reflect the new title of Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1. The footnote in paragraph A65 is amended with the new section reference. 

9. Compliance with ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised) requires, among other things, that the 

assurance practitioner comply with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised)
29

 or other 

professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as 

demanding related to assurance engagements
30

. It also requires the lead assurance 

practitioner
31

 to be a member of a firm that applies Professional and Ethical Standard 3 

(Amended)
32

 or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as demanding related to 

assurance engagements. 

19. As required by ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), the assurance practitioner shall comply with 

Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised)
33

, or other professional requirements, or 

requirements imposed by law or regulation, that are at least as demanding. (Ref: Para. A6) 

46. If the assurance practitioner becomes aware of information concerning an instance of non-

compliance or suspected non-compliance with respect to laws and regulations, the assurance 

practitioner shall comply with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised), or other 

professional requirements, or requirements imposed by law or regulation, that are at least 

as demanding. (Ref. Para. A65) 

A19. Where relevant, the terms of the engagement could also include a reference to, and 

description of, the auditor’s responsibility in accordance with: 

• Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised); and/or 

• applicable law or regulation, and  

                                                 
29  Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International 

Independence Standards) (New Zealand).   

30  See ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), paragraphs 3(a) and 20.   

31  The term “lead assurance practitioner” is referred to in Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) and Professional and 

Ethical Standard 3 (Amended) as the “engagement partner”.   

32  See ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), paragraphs 3(b) and 31(a).   

33  See ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), paragraph 20. 
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• obligations to report identified or suspected matters of non-compliance with laws and 

regulations to an appropriate authority outside the entity is required or appropriate in 

the circumstances. 

A65. Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised)34, sets out the approach to be taken by an 

assurance practitioner who encounters or is made aware of matter(s) of non-compliance or 

suspected matter(s) of non-compliance with laws or regulations., In these circumstances, the 

assurance practitioner shall consider the appropriate response to the identified matter(s) of non-

compliance with laws and regulations in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 

(Revised). 

C.4 SAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls 

Paragraphs 9, 19, 88(l) and A124, are amended to reflect the new title of Professional and 

Ethical Standard 1. In addition, the footnote to paragraph 19 is replaced with a reference to the 

applicable requirement in ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised).  

The illustrative assurance practitioner’s reports in Appendix 8 are amended to reflect the new 

title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1.   

9. Compliance with ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised) requires, among other things, that the 

assurance practitioner complies with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised)
35

 or 

other professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as 

demanding related to assurance engagements
36

. It also requires the lead assurance 

practitioner
37

 to be a member of a firm that applies Professional and Ethical Standard 3 

(Amended) or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as demanding related to 

assurance engagements. 
38

 

19. As required by ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), the assurance practitioner shall comply with 

Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) 39 or other professional requirements, or 

requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as demanding related to assurance 

engagements. (Ref: Para. A10) 

88(l) a statement that the assurance practitioner complies with the independence and other 

relevant ethical requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised), or other 

                                                 
34  See Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised), Ssection 225360, Responding to Non-Compliance with Laws and 

Regulations 

35  Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised), International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including 

International Independence Standards) (New Zealand)  

36  ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), paragraphs 3(a) and 20. 

37  The term “lead assurance practitioner” is referred to in Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) and Professional and 

Ethical Standard 3 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance 

Engagements (Amended) as the “engagement partner”.  

38  ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), paragraphs 3(b) and 31(a). 

39  Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners. See ISAE (NZ) 3000 (Revised), 

paragraph 20 
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professional requirements, or requirements imposed by law or regulation, that are at least 

as demanding as Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised); 

A124. Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) or other professional requirements, or 

requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as demanding require that an assurance 

practitioner not be associated with information where the assurance practitioner believes 

that the information: 

(a)  contains a materially false or misleading statement; 

(b)  contains statements or information furnished recklessly; or 

(c)  omits or obscures information required to be included where such omission or 

obscurity would be misleading. 

Appendix 8 

(Ref: Para. A139) 

EXAMPLE ASSURANCE REPORTS ON CONTROLS 

Example 1: Limited Assurance Report on Design and Description of the Entity’s Controls as at a 

Specified Date 

Example 2: Reasonable Assurance Report on the Design, Description and Operating Effectiveness 

of the Entity’s Controls throughout the Period 

Example 3: Reasonable Assurance Report on the Design and Implementation of the Entity’s 

Controls as at a Specified Date 

Example 4: Reasonable Assurance Report on the Design and Operating Effectiveness of the Entity’s 

Controls throughout the Period 

The following examples of reports are for guidance only and are not intended to be exhaustive or 

applicable to all situations.  They can be applied to both attestation and direct engagements. These 

examples are short-form reports but may be converted to long-form reports by inclusion of 

additional information as indicated. 
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Example 1: Limited Assurance Report on Design and Description of the Entity’s Controls as 

at a Specified Date 

Independent Assurance Practitioner’s Report 

[Appropriate Addressee] 

Scope 

We have undertaken a limited assurance engagement on the design of controls within ABC’s [type 

or name of] system (the controls), comprising [identify system by distinguishing features, 

boundaries and control components]40, as at [date] relevant to [[list overall objectives]/ the 

following control objectives: [list or reference specific control objectives41]] and ABC’s 

description of its [type or name of] system at pages [bb-cc] (the description)42. The scope of our 

limited assurance engagement does not include whether the controls were implemented as designed 

or operated effectively. 

ABC’s Responsibilities 

ABC is responsible for: 

(a) the [functions or services] within the [type/name of] system;  

(b) identifying the control objectives; 

(c) identifying the risks that threaten achievement of the control objectives; 

(d) designing controls to mitigate those risks, so that those risks will not prevent achievement 

of the identified control objectives; and 

(e) preparing the description43 [and Statement] at page [aa], including the completeness, 

accuracy and method of presentation of the description [and Statement]. 

Our Independence and Quality Control 

We have complied with the Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New 

Zealand) or other professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least 

as demanding, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental 

principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and 

professional behaviour. 

In accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 3 (Amended) Quality Control for Firms that 

Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance Engagements or other 

professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as demanding, 

                                                 
40  Identify system by function or service provided and entity, facility or location. If the scope of the engagement is restricted to 

certain control components, identify those components. Components may include: the control environment, risk assessment, 

control activities, information and communication or monitoring activities, or equivalent components defined by control 

framework applied. 

41  Control objectives are listed if they are not detailed in the entity’s description 

42  If some elements of the description are not included in the scope of the engagement, this is made clear in the assurance report. 

43  Insert for attestation engagements if a responsible party’s or evaluator’s Statement is provided to users. 
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[name of firm] maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies 

and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 

applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

… 
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Example 2: Reasonable Assurance Report on the Design, Description, and Operating 

Effectiveness of the Entity’s Controls throughout the Period Independent Assurance 

Practitioner’s Report 

[Appropriate Addressee] 

Scope 

We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design of controls within ABC’s 

[type/name of] system (the controls), comprising [identify system by distinguishing features, 

boundaries and control components44], throughout the period [date] to [date] relevant to [[list 

overall control objectives]/ the following control objectives: [list or reference the control 

objectives]], ABC’s description of its [type or name of] system at pages [bb-cc] (the description)45, 

and the operating effectiveness of those controls. 

ABC’s Responsibilities 

ABC is responsible for: 

(a) the [functions or services] within the [type/name of] system;  

(b) identifying the control objectives; 

(c) identifying the risks that threaten achievement of the control objectives; 

(d) designing controls to mitigate those risks, so that those risks will not prevent achievement of 

the identified control objectives; 

(e) preparing the description [and Statement]46 at page [aa], including the completeness, 

accuracy and method of presentation of the description [and Statement47]; and 

(f) operating those controls effectively as designed throughout the period. 

Our Independence and Quality Control 

We have complied with the Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New 

Zealand) or other professional ethical requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are 

at least as demanding, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental 

principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and 

professional behaviour. 

In accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 3 (Amended) Quality Control for Firms that 

Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance Engagements or other 

professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as demanding, 

                                                 
44  Identify the system by function or service provided and entity, facility or location. If the scope of the engagement is restricted 

to certain control components, identify those components. Components may include: the control environment, risk assessment, 

control activities, information and communication or monitoring activities, or equivalent components defined by control 

framework applied.   

45  If some elements of the description are not included in the scope of the engagement, this is made clear in the assurance report.   

46  Insert for attestation engagements if the responsible party’s or evaluator’s Statement is provided to users.   

47  Insert for attestation engagements if the opinion is phrased in terms of the Statement.   



 

 

 77 

 

[name of firm] maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies 

and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 

applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

… 



 

 

 78 

 

Example 3: Reasonable Assurance Report on the Design and Implementation of the 

Entity’s Controls as at a Specified Date 

Independent Assurance Practitioner’s Report 

[Appropriate Addressee] 

Scope 

We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of 

controls within ABC’s [type/name of] system (the controls), comprising [identify system by 

distinguishing features, boundaries and control components48] as at [date] relevant to [[list overall 

objectives]/ the following control objectives: [List or reference the control objectives49]] 

ABC’s Responsibilities 

ABC is responsible for: 

(a) the [functions or services] within the [type/name of] system;  

(b) identifying the control objectives; 

(c) identifying the risks that threaten achievement of the control objectives; 

(d) designing and implementing controls to mitigate those risks, so that those risks will not 

prevent achievement of the identified control objectives; 

(e) implementing the controls as designed; and 

(f) [preparing the accompanying Statement at page [aa], including the completeness, accuracy 

and method of presentation of the Statement.]50 

Our Independence and Quality Control 

We have complied with the Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of 

Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New 

Zealand) or other professional ethical requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are 

at least as demanding, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental 

principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and 

professional behaviour. 

In accordance with Professional and Ethical Auditing Standard 3 (Amended) Quality Control for 

Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance 

Engagements or other professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation,  that are at 

least as demanding, [name of firm] maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including 

documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 

standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

                                                 
48  Identify the system by function or service provided and entity, facility or location. If the scope of the engagement is restricted 

to certain control components, identify those components. Components may include: the control environment, risk 

assessment, control activities, information and communication or monitoring activities, or equivalent components defined by 

control framework applied.   

49  Either list overall control objectives or list specified control objectives depending on scope of engagement.   

50  Insert for attestation engagements if the responsible party’s or evaluator’s Statement is provided to users.   
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… 

Example 4: Reasonable Assurance Report on the Design and Operating Effectiveness of the 

Entity’s Controls throughout the Period  

Independent Assurance Practitioner’s Report 

[Appropriate Addressee] 

Scope 

We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and the operating 

effectiveness of controls within ABC’s [type/name of] system (the controls), comprising [identify 

system by distinguishing features, boundaries and control components51], throughout the period 

[date] to [date]] relevant to [[list overall objectives]/ the following control objectives: [List or 

reference the control objectives52]] 

ABC’s Responsibilities 

ABC is responsible for: 

(a) the [functions or services] within the [type/name of] system;  

(b) identifying the control objectives; 

(c) identifying the risks that threaten achievement of the control objectives; 

(d) designing controls to mitigate those risks, so that those risks will not prevent achievement of 

the identified control objectives; 

(e) operating effectively the controls as designed throughout the period; and 

(f) [preparing the accompanying Statement at page [aa], including the completeness, accuracy 

and method of presentation of the Statement.53] 

Our Independence and Quality Control 

We have complied with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) International Code of Ethics 

for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) or 

other professional ethical requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at least as 

demanding, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles 

of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional 

behaviour. 

In accordance with Professional and Ethical Auditing Standard 3 (Amended) Quality Control for 

Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance 

Engagements or other professional requirements, or requirements in law or regulation, that are at 

least as demanding, [name of firm] maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including 

                                                 
51  Identify the system by function or service provided and entity, facility or location. If the scope of the engagement is restricted 

to certain control components, identify those components. Components may include: the control environment, risk assessment, 

control activities, information and communication or monitoring activities, or equivalent components defined by control 

framework applied.   

52  Either list overall control objectives or list specified control objectives depending on scope of engagement.   

53  Insert for attestation engagements if the responsible party’s or evaluator’s Statement is provided to users.   
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documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 

standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

C.5 ISRE (NZ) 2400 Assurance Engagements on Controls 

Paragraph NZA95.1 is amended to reflect the new title of Professional and Ethical Standard 1. In 

the footnotes, paragraph references to PES 1 have been updated.  

NZA95.1 In some cases the relevant ethical requirements may require the assurance practitioner to 

report or to consider whether reporting identified or suspected fraud or non-compliance with 

laws and regulations to an appropriate authority outside the entity is an appropriate action 

in the circumstances. For example, Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) requires 

the assurance practitioner to take steps to respond to identified or suspected non-compliance 

with laws and regulations, and determine whether further action is needed, which may 

include reporting to an appropriate authority outside the entity.54 Professional and Ethical 

Standard 1 (Revised) explains that such reporting would not be considered a breach of the 

duty of confidentiality under Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised).55 
 

D. Effective Date 

Given the limited nature of the amendments proposed and because the conforming amendments do 

not create any new obligations, the NZAuASB is proposing that the conforming amendments 

become effective approximately 90 days after approval of the final standard.  

 

                                                 
54  See, for example, paragraph 360.21 A1 Section 225.29 of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) 
55  See, for example, Section paragraphs R114.1(d) and R360.26140.7 and Section 225.35 of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 

(Revised). 


